### **RECEIVED**

11-03-2017

## STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2017AP1588-CR, 2017AP1587-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

THEORIS R. STEWART,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction and an Order Denying Postconviction Relief, Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl Presiding

### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Nicole M. Masnica Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1079819

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 masnican@opd.wi.gov

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Was there a factual basis supporting Mr. Stewart's guilty plea to the two counts of unauthorized use of an entity's identifying information, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2), when it was alleged that he provided two falsified diplomas to a presentence investigation writer? Specifically, was there a factual basis establishing two of the four elements of the crime in question: (1) that Mr. Stewart was representing that he was the entities in question or acting with their express authorization, and (2) that Mr. Stewart intended to "obtain credit, money, goods, services or anything else of value or benefit" as required by statute?

The circuit court held that there was a factual basis sustaining Mr. Stewart's identity theft convictions. The court concluded (1) that Mr. Stewart was "at least implicitely representing" that he was acting with the authorization of the entities in question and (2) the phrase "value or benefit" under Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2) includes the type favorable consideration Mr. Stewart sought from the court in the associated sentencing disposition.

2. Did the trial court err by ordering that Mr. Stewart's unpaid and past due child support obligations be paid as restitution under Wis. Stat. § 973.20?

The circuit court never specifically addressed this question and instead concluded: "For the reasons set forth by the State in its response brief, the defendant's motion is denied *in toto*." The State's response brief, however, stipulated to the conversion of the restitution order pertaining to child support into an order under Wis. Stat. § 948.22(7). In

denying Mr. Stewart's motion in its entirety, the circuit court declined to alter the restitution order as requested.

## STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Stewart welcomes oral argument if the court would find it helpful to deciding the issues. Publication is appropriate because this case involves an issue of first impression: whether the legislature intended the phrase "anything else of value or benefit," within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2), to include an act done with the intent of gaining favor with a sentencing court in a criminal prosecution.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### The Falsified Diplomas

In 2011, Mr. Stewart was charged in Milwaukee County Case Number 11CF2608 with four counts of failure to support, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.22(2). (14CF3197, 2:6). At the time the charges were filed, Mr. Stewart was residing in Tennessee. On April 28, 2012, he was arrested and extradited to Wisconsin. Mr. Stewart eventually entered a plea to two of the four counts pursuant to a plea agreement and the court ordered that a Presentence Investigation Report (PSI) be completed by the Department of Corrections. (14CF3197, 2:6). In accordance with the plea agreement, the State recommended that Mr. Stewart be placed on probation and that he be required to serve the first 90 days of that period in the House of Correction as conditional jail time. (14CF3197, 34:27-28).

During the PSI interview process, Mr. Stewart represented that he had two Bachelor's degrees, one from University of Arizona and the other from Jones International University. (14CF3197, 2:6). He also told the PSI writer that he had successfully appealed his "bad conduct discharge" from the U.S. Air Force. (14CF3197, 2:6). In support of his claims, Mr. Stewart provided falsified documents, including diplomas from the University of Arizona and Jones International University, an email purportedly from Jones University and a letter allegedly from the Department of Veterans Affairs stating that his "bad conduct discharge" was upgraded to "general discharge." (14CF3197, 2:6-7).

At sentencing, the court ultimately placed Mr. Stewart on probation for a period of eighteen months, and declined to impose any conditional jail time. (14CF3197, 34:23-24).

Following Mr. Stewart's sentencing hearing in that matter, the State investigated the documents Mr. Stewart submitted to the PSI writer. (14CF3197, 2:7). During the investigation, the State discovered that Mr. Stewart was not a graduate of the University of Arizona and while he had attended Jones International University, he did not graduate. (14CF3197, 2:7). The State also learned that while Mr. Stewart had petitioned for a change of the status of his discharge from the U.S. Air Force, his request was ultimately denied. (14CF3197, 2:7).

#### Case Numbers 14CF3197 & 14CF5128

Following the conclusion of the investigation, the State pursued new charges against Mr. Stewart. In Case Number 14CF3197, the State charged Mr. Stewart with fifteen counts: seven counts failure to support a child, four counts of identity theft and four counts of contempt of court-misconduct in court (the latter eight counts were charged as a result of the

alleged creation of the four documents provided to the presentence writer). (14CF3197, 2). In Case Number 14CF5128, the State filed an additional five counts of failure to support a child. (14CF5128, 1).

On February 26, 2016, Mr. Stewart entered guilty pleas to eleven counts between the two cases. He pled guilty to eight counts of failure to support a child, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.22(2), two counts identity theft, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a), and one count of contempt of court-misconduct in court, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 785.01(1)(a). (14CF5128, 23; 14CF3197, 25). Nine other counts were either dismissed outright or read in for the purpose of sentencing. (14CF5128, 23; 14CF3197, 25).

On April 29, 2016, the Honorable Dennis R. Cimpl sentenced Mr. Stewart to a total of six years initial confinement and seven years extended supervision between the two cases. The sentences are broken down as follows:

#### Case Number 14CF3197:

Count One: 1 year initial confinement, 2 years extended supervision, consecutive to 14CF5128;

Counts Two, Three and Four: 1 year initial confinement, 2 years extended supervision, concurrent to Count One;

Count Ten: 1 year in the House of Correction, consecutive to Count One;

Count Eleven: 11 months in the House of Correction, consecutive to Count Ten;

Count Twelve: 3 years initial confinement and 3 years extended supervision, concurrent to Count Eleven.

#### Case Number 14CF5128:

Count One: 1 year initial confinement, 2 years extended supervision, consecutive to 14CF3197;

Counts Two, Three and Four: 1 year initial confinement, 2 years extended supervision, concurrent to Count One;

(14CF5128, 23; 14CF3197, 25).

Mr. Stewart filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (14CF5128, 20; 14CF3197, 21).

#### Postconviction Proceedings

Mr. Stewart filed a postconviction motion seeking plea withdrawal and a correction in the assignment of his pastdue child support obligation to a restitution order. (14CF5128, 31; 14CF3197, 32). The motion asserted<sup>1</sup>:

- (1) That Mr. Stewart should be permitted to withdraw his plea to counts ten and twelve in Case Number 14CF3197, charging unauthorized use of an entity's identifying information as a repeater, as there was not a sufficient factual basis on which the court could properly accept his pleas;
- (2) That the circuit court should convert the restitution order as it relates to court-ordered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The postconviction motion also asserted that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to properly advise his client regarding a potential defense to three of the counts of failure to support a child. Mr. Stewart is not appealing the circuit court's ruling on that issue and therefore, the details of the arguments on that topic are not included in this brief.

child support to an order in compliance with Wis. Stat. § 948.22(7).

(14CF5128, 31; 14CF3197, 32).

Following the submission of briefs and without a hearing, the circuit court denied Mr. Stewart's motion for postconviction relief on all grounds. Regarding the challenge to the identity theft counts, the circuit court concluded that there was a factual basis sustaining Mr. Stewart's convictions. The circuit court found that there was evidence alleged that supported the conclusion that Mr. Stewart, by presenting the falsified diplomas to the presentence investigation writer, was implicitly acting as if he had the authorization of the academic institution entities to create and reproduce diplomas. This the court held, was enough to support the element in question.

Next, the circuit court held that the phrase "anything else of value or benefit" under Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2), includes "the benefit the defendant sought to obtain from the PSI writer in terms of a favorable sentence recommendation and from the court in case 11CF2608 in terms of a more favorable sentencing disposition." (14CF5128, 38:2; 14CF3197, 39:2).

Finally, regarding the conversion of the order for payment of past-due child support, the circuit court did not specifically address this issue in the decision denying Mr. Stewart's postconviction motion. Instead, the court concluded: "For the reasons set forth by the State in its response brief, the defendant's motion is denied *in toto*." Notably, the State stipulated to the conversion of the restitution order pertaining to child support into an order under Wis. Stat. § 948.22(7) in its response brief, but this was

not addressed in the circuit court's written decision. (14CF5128, 38:2; 14CF3197, 39:2).

Mr. Stewart now appeals.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. No Factual Basis Exists to Support Mr. Stewart's Guilty Pleas to the Two Counts of Unauthorized Use of an Entity's Identifying Information as Charged in 14CF3197.

In this case, there was no factual basis upon which the court could accept a plea of guilty to the identity theft charges. Wisconsin Jury Instruction 1459 outlines the four elements of the offense of unauthorized use of an entity's identifying information which require that the State prove the following:

- 1. The defendant intentionally used identifying information of an entity. The name of the entity is identifying information.
- 2. The defendant intentionally used the identifying information of the entity to obtain credit, money, goods, services, or anything else of value or benefit.
- 3. The defendant acted without the authorization or consent of the entity and knew that the entity did not give authorization or consent.
- 4. The defendant intentionally represented that he was acting with the authorization or consent of the entity. "Intentionally" requires that the defendant had the mental purpose to obtain credit, money, goods, services, or anything else of value or benefit by using identifying

information of the entity without the entity's consent or authorization.

#### (Wis. JI-CRIMINAL 1459).

Here, no evidence was presented at the time of the plea establishing that Mr. Stewart represented that he was the entity or that he had delivered the forged documents to the PSI writer with the consent of the entities in question or that he used the information to obtain something of "value or benefit" within the meaning of the statute. (14CF3197, 2; 14CF5128, 1); Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2).

#### A. General legal principles and standard of review.

When the court accepts a plea of "guilty" to a criminal charge, it has the duty during the plea colloquy to "make such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b) (2015-2016); McCarthy v. United States, 394 U.S. 459, 467 (1969); White v. State, 85 Wis. 2d 485, 488, 271 N.W.2d 97 (1978). This requirement for guilty pleas is modeled after Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. Ernst v. State, 43 Wis. 2d 661, 674, 170 N.W.2d 713 (1969). In other words, the court must find through its review of the record before it that there is a factual basis for the crime charged and that the defendant is knowingly admitting to those facts. *McCarthy*, 394 U.S. at 466-67. The trial court must make this inquiry to protect "a defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge." White, 85 Wis. 2d at 491. The factual basis requirement is separate and distinct from the requirement that a plea be voluntary. State v. Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 14, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836.

A defendant pursuing plea withdrawal after sentencing must prove by clear and convincing evidence that withdrawal is necessary to avoid a manifest injustice. *State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz*, 219 Wis. 2d 615, 635, 579 N.W.2d 698 (1998). Failure to establish a factual basis showing that the conduct which the defendant admits constitutes the offense pleaded to is itself evidence that a manifest injustice has occurred warranting plea withdrawal. *Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d 714, ¶ 17; *State v. Harrington*, 181 Wis. 2d 985, 989, 512 N.W.2d 261 (Ct. App. 1994).

Whether an adequate factual basis was presented to support a guilty plea when the facts supporting the charge are derived from the criminal complaint in the record is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo. See State v. Peralta*, 2011 WI App 81, ¶ 16, 334 Wis. 2d 159, 800 N.W.2d 512; *See also Cohn v. Town of Randall*, 2001 WI App 176, ¶ 5, 247 Wis.2d 118, 633 N.W.2d 674.

B. Mr. Stewart was neither representing that he was one of the entities in question or that he was acting with its authorization or consent, and therefore, there was an insufficient factual basis upon which the trial court could accept his plea to the identity theft charges.

In denying the postconviction motion, the circuit court concluded that the record showed that Mr. Stewart "intentionally, and at least implicitly, represented that he was acting with the authorization of the entity" when he falsified the documents. (14CF3197, 38). The circuit court provided no authority in support of this conclusion. Mr. Stewart contends that the circuit court's ruling is not a proper interpretation and application of the statute and that this court should not adopt its reasoning.

The fourth element of the crime of unauthorized use of an entity's identifying information, in violation of section 943.203(2), is that the "defendant intentionally represent that he was the entity or that he was acting with the authorization or consent of the entity." (Wis. JI-CRIMINAL 1459). The criminal complaint alleged that Mr. Stewart falsely claimed to have been a graduate of two universities and to have received a "general discharge" from the military. The complaint stated he created four documents to support his claim.

Mr. Stewart is not disputing that he lied about his educational background or military service. However, he asserts there is nothing in the complaint or record indicating that he was intentionally claiming to act as a representative of the universities or the military or that he had represented that he obtained the entities' permission to provide the false documents to the PSI writer. (14CF3197, 1). Further, the documents in question - purported copies of college diplomas and a letter from the U.S. Air Force - are not the type of items that require permission from an entity to use or share.

Therefore, the fact that Mr. Stewart presented the documents in question as authentic to the presentence writer does not satisfy the requirement that he acted as if he was the entity or was acting with the express permission of the entity. This is not a charge of uttering a forgery (and these acts would also not meet the legal element for that crime) where the act of representing a forgery to another as genuine is itself a crime. *See* Wis. Stat. 943.38(2). Had the legislature intended that this behavior be likewise criminalized in the identity theft statutory scheme as it relates to entities, the statute could have been drafted in that way. Instead, Wis. Stat. §943.203 requires that the individual charged either be representing that the person is the entity itself or is intentionally acting with the actual authorization or consent of

the entity. The criminal complaint did not allege — and Mr. Stewart did not admit to — those facts.

For these reasons, Mr. Stewart asserts that there was not a factual basis that supported a finding of guilt on the identity theft charges. While Mr. Stewart was "in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge," he did not realize "that his conduct [did] not actually fall within the charge." *White*, 85 Wis. 2d at 491. Therefore, a manifest injustice has occurred and plea withdrawal is warranted. *Thomas*, 232 Wis. 2d at ¶ 17; *Harrington*, 181 Wis. 2d at 989.

C. Mr. Stewart did not create or utilize the fake diplomas to obtain "anything else of value" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2), and therefore, there was no factual basis upon which the trial court could accept his plea to the identity theft charges.

Mr. Stewart did not use the identifying information of the entities in question to obtain "anything of value or benefit" within the meaning of the statute. (14CF3197, 2:3-5) Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2). The criminal complaint alleged that Mr. Stewart received a "benefit" from the sentencing court as a result of his misrepresentations, simply because the court mentioned Mr. Stewart's purported educational background during the sentencing hearing. During the court's remarks, the judge stated: "You speak well. You have got a fairly good record with education and so on..." and "Went to University of Arizona...says he completed a Bachelor of Arts degree in Business Administration." (14CF3197, 2:7). At the conclusion of sentencing, the court imposed a period of probation with no condition time, rather than probation with

ninety days of condition time as the State had requested. (14CF3197, 2:7).

Despite the State's assertions to the contrary, the sentencing court did not state that it was declining to order condition time due to his education or successful military discharge., By adopting the State's reasoning in its entirety, the circuit court ignores that even assuming the itgave some consideration to the misrepresentations at issue, the sentencing court's determination is not "anything of value or benefit" as intended by the legislature.

First, when determining the appropriate application of the phrase "anything else of value or benefit," Mr. Stewart contends that the doctrine of ejusdem generis should be applied. "The doctrine of ejusdem generis is a 'canon of construction that when a general word or phrase follows a list of specific person or things, the general word or phrase will be interpreted to include only persons or things of the same type as those listed." State v. Peters, 2003 WI 88, 263 Wis. 2d 475, 665 N.W.2d 171, citing *State v. A.S.*, 2001 WI 48, ¶ 33 n. 4, 243 Wis. 2d 173, 626 N.W.2d 712 (other citations omitted). Mr. Stewart argues that the phrase only makes practical sense when interpreting it to mean anything of commercial or financial benefit or value. If the "anything else of value or benefit" language is not limited by the principle of ejusdem generis, the language can include practically anything in the world. This cannot be what the legislature intended.

For example, if the language of the statute encompasses a lie about employment or military service to a court to gain favor at sentencing, then who is to say that it can't also be used to penalize someone who lies about a job or military service to pursue a romantic relationship or

someone who embellishes her work or prior educational experience on a resume' or says he just got released from Racine Correctional Institution so that people will buy him drinks in a bar? These are just a few examples of the types of behaviors that could be prosecuted as felony identity theft under the broad interpretation of the statute that the State has asked the Court to permit. The possibilities are endless.

In response to these arguments, the circuit court (by adopting the State's arguments in its response brief) concluded that the legislature did in fact wish to penalize these relatively minor misrepresentations one could make with a felony criminal conviction. Each one of the examples above would fit the elements of the crime of unauthorized use of an entity's identifying information under the circuit court's accepted interpretation. This is absurd and leads to a statute that is unconstitutionally vague.<sup>2</sup>

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