### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 01-19-2018

# COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2017AP1587-CR, 2017AP1588-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

THEORIS RAPHEL STEWART,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE DENNIS R. CIMPL, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

KARA L. MELE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

A sufficient factual basis exists to support Stewart's guilty pleas to two counts of identity theft.

#### A. Relevant law

#### 1. Factual basis

Before accepting a guilty plea, the circuit court must "[m]ake such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged." Wis. Stat. § 971.08(1)(b). "The 'factual basis' requirement is distinct from the [] 'voluntariness' requirement for guilty pleas." *State v.* 

Thomas, 2000 WI 13, ¶ 14, 232 Wis. 2d 714, 605 N.W.2d 836. The purpose of the factual basis requirement is to protect "a defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge." Id. (citation omitted). Where the court fails to establish a factual basis to support the defendant's guilty plea, a manifest injustice has occurred such that the defendant is entitled to withdraw his plea. Id. ¶ 17.

#### 2. Statutory interpretation

Whether a sufficient factual basis exists to support Stewart's guilty pleas depends on this Court's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2).

This Court "begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain, [the Court] ordinarily stop[s] the inquiry." State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (citation omitted). Statutory language "is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closelyrelated statues; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." Id. ¶ 46. This means that scope, context, and purpose are all relevant to a plain-meaning interpretation of a statute, assuming that the scope, context, and purpose are discernable "from the text and structure of the statute itself, rather than extrinsic sources, such as legislative history." Id. ¶ 48. Moreover, this Court may review statutory history as part of its textual analysis. Richards v. Badger Mut. Ins. Co., 2008 WI 52, ¶ 22, 309 Wis. 2d 541, 749 N.W.2d 581. While numerous canons of statutory construction may be relevant to a plain-meaning interpretation of a statute, no canon of interpretation is absolute. See State v. Popenhagen, 2008 WI 55, ¶ 42, 309 Wis. 2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611.

If the above "process of analysis yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then there is no ambiguity, and the statue is applied according to this ascertainment of its meaning." Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46 (citation omitted). "Where statutory language is unambiguous, there is no need to consult extrinsic sources of interpretation, such as legislative history." Id. "Thus, as a general matter, legislative history need not be and is not consulted except to resolve an ambiguity in the statutory language, although legislative history is sometimes consulted to confirm or verify a plain-meaning interpretation." Id. ¶ 51.

B. By falsifying diplomas to obtain a favorable sentencing disposition, Stewart committed identity theft to obtain "anything else of value or benefit" within the plain meaning of Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a).

A factual basis exists to support Stewart's guilty pleas to two counts of identity theft because the complaint alleges that Stewart falsified diplomas to obtain a favorable sentencing disposition, thereby showing that Stewart committed identity theft to obtain "anything else of value or benefit" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a).

1. "Anything else of value or benefit" is not limited by the specific terms "credit, money, goods, [or] services."

The analysis begins with the language of the statute. Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45. Wisconsin Stat. § 943.203 provides, in pertinent part:

Whoever, for any of the following purposes, intentionally uses, attempts to use, or possesses with intent to use any identifying information or identification document of an entity without the authorization or consent of the entity and by representing that the person is the entity or is acting

with the authorization or consent of the entity is guilty of a Class H felony:

(a) To obtain credit, money, goods, services, or anything else of value or benefit.

Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a) (2013–14). The phrase "anything else of value or benefit" is undoubtedly general, making the general-terms statutory canon relevant to the analysis. Under that canon, general terms must be given their general meaning, absent some indication to the contrary. See Antonin Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts 101 (1st ed. 2012). The reasoning is simple: "the presumed point of using general words is to produce general coverage—not to leave room for courts to recognize ad hoc exceptions." Id.

To determine the scope of the general phrase "anything else of value or benefit," this Court considers the ordinary, everyday meaning of the words that make up the phrase, ascertainable by reference to their dictionary definitions. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶¶ 45, 53.

The term "anything" is ordinarily understood as implying no exclusions. The term's dictionary definition confirms as much. Merriam-Webster defines "anything" as "any thing whatever: any such thing." https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/anything (accessed January 9, 2018).

The term "else" is ordinarily understood as something different or additional. Merriam-Webster defines the term as "in a different manner" or "in an additional manner." https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/else (accessed January 9, 2018). While there are two ordinary meanings of the term, both definitions signify an alternative—something other than what has been discussed.

So far, then, the subject phrase covers anything at all that is not one of the things already listed in the statute. Of course, the Legislature did not intend for the statute to cover anything in the world—it narrowed the scope of the statute by adding the terms "value" and "benefit." The statute's reach therefore depends on the meaning of those two words.

The term "value" is ordinarily understood as something important or useful. Merriam-Webster broadly defines the term to mean the "monetary worth of something"; something of "relative worth, utility, or importance"; or "something intrinsically valuable or desirable." https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/value (accessed January 9, 2018).

And finally, the term "benefit" is ordinarily understood as some type of advantage or privilege. Merriam-Webster broadly defines the term to mean "something that produces good or helpful results or effects or that promotes well-being"; "financial help in time of sickness, old age, or unemployment"; "a payment or service provided for under an annuity, pension plan, or insurance policy"; or "a service (such as health insurance) or right (as to take vacation time) provided by an employer in addition to wages or salary." https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/benefit (accessed January 9, 2018).

Since the statutory terms "value" and "benefit" have more than one ordinary meaning, it might be argued that the statute's reach is ambiguous. But the Legislature's use of the general term "anything" disambiguates. Since "anything" implies no exclusions, the phrase "anything else of value or benefit" encompasses the broadest definitions of the terms "value" and "benefit." Had the Legislature intended to limit the meanings of "value" and "benefit," it could have used limiting language. For example, it could have prohibited identity theft to obtain credit, money, goods, services, or similar things of value or benefit. But that is not what the Legislature said. The Legislature used general language—thereby creating general coverage—and this Court's role is

to give effect to the words that the Legislature actually used. See Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶¶ 43, 44.

A combination of statutory history and statutory context supports the State's position that the terms "value" and "benefit" in Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a) must be broadly construed. Both statutory canons are relevant to a plain-meaning interpretation of the statute. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46; *see also Richards*, 309 Wis. 2d 541, ¶ 22.

As noted, before 2003, the crime of unauthorized use of an entity's identifying information or documents did not exist. Wisconsin law only prohibited the misappropriation of personal identifying information or documents to obtain "credit, money, goods, services or anything else of value." *See* Wis. Stat. § 943.201(2) (2001–02). In response to the legal challenges to the general phrase "anything else of value," the Legislature amended the statute to confirm what Wisconsin courts had already suggested: the statute reaches as broadly as it reads. *See* 2003 Wis. Act 36, § 22.

According to the Wisconsin Legislative Council Act Memo on 2003 Wis. Act 36 (September 4, 2003), Act 36 intended to "clarify[] that prohibitions on the unauthorized use of information or documents extend to obtaining 'employment' or anything of 'benefit' or to avoiding 'civil or criminal process or penalty." The key word is "clarify"3: it indicates that prior to Act 36, Wisconsin law already prohibited such conduct by virtue of Wis. Stat. § 943.201(2)'s general language. Thus, through Act 36, the Legislature simply wanted to make absolutely clear that it intended the phrase "anything else of value" to have general effect. Stated

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> By contrast, the Memo refers to Act 36 as "adding a prohibition against unauthorized use of personal identifying information or documents to 'harm the reputation, property, person, or estate of [an] individual."

differently, Act 36's addition of the words "employment" and "benefit" to Wis. Stat. § 943.201(2), as well as the phrase "to avoid civil or criminal process or penalty," merely serves a belt-and-suspenders function.

As discussed, in addition to the amendments to Wis. Stat. § 943.201(2), Act 36 created the statute at issue in this case: Wis. Stat. § 943.203. 2003 Wis. Act 36, § 24. In drafting Wis. Stat. § 943.203, the Legislature chose to use general language substantially similar to that of the former identity theft statute. *Compare* Wis. Stat. § 943.201(2) (2001–02) ("anything else of value") *with* Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a) (2003–04) ("anything else of value or benefit"). Therefore, the Wisconsin Legislative Council Memo on Act 36—indicating that the Legislature used general language in the former identity theft statute to produce general coverage—confirms the State's plain-meaning interpretation<sup>4</sup> of the general language in Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a).

In sum, the statutory terms "value" and "benefit" in Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a) must be broadly construed. And when they are, they plainly include a favorable sentencing disposition in a criminal case. A favorable sentencing disposition in a criminal case is certainly "something of relative importance" or "something that produces good or helpful results or effects or that promotes well-being." See supra p. 12 (defining "value" and "benefit"). As the complaint alleges that Stewart falsified diplomas to obtain a favorable sentencing disposition, it shows that he committed identity theft to obtain "anything else of value or benefit" within the meaning of Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Legislative history may be consulted to confirm the plain meaning of a statute. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 51

Stewart disagrees, but his arguments fail. First, he argues that the *ejusdem generis* canon applies to limit the meaning of the general phrase "anything else of value or benefit" in Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a). (Stewart's Br. 12.) He believes that the phrase "only makes practical sense when interpreting it to mean anything of commercial or financial benefit or value." (Stewart's Br. 12.)

The *ejusdem generis* canon provides that where a general term is preceded by a series of specific terms, "the general term is viewed as being limited to items of the same type or nature as those specifically enumerated." *State v. Campbell*, 102 Wis. 2d 243, 246, 306 N.W.2d 272 (Ct. App. 1981). As with all other statutory canons, the rule is simply a tool to use in ascertaining the meaning of a statute. *Id*.

Importantly, the doctrine of *ejusdem generis* does not apply where "the statute has a plain and reasonable meaning on its face." *Peters*, 263 Wis. 2d 475, ¶ 14; *see also Benson v. City of Madison*, 2017 WI 65, ¶ 120 n.16, 376 Wis. 2d 35, 897 N.W.2d 16 (Abrahamson, J., dissenting). Thus, where a statute's history indicates that the Legislature intended for its general language to have general effect, *ejusdem generis* does not apply. *See La Barge v. State*, 74 Wis. 2d 327, 332–33, 246 N.W.2d 794 (1976) (the catchall phrase "other serious bodily injury" was added to the statute by amendment, indicating the Legislature's intention to broaden the scope of the statute); *accord United States v. Baranski*, 484 F.2d 556, 566–67 (7th Cir. 1973).

Here, similar to *La Barge*, the statutory history of Wis. Stat. § 943.203 indicates that the Legislature intended to give the general phrase "anything else of value or benefit" general effect. As discussed above, prior to creating Wis. Stat. § 943.203, the Legislature was well aware of the litigation history surrounding its use of the general phrase "anything else of value" in the former identity theft statute, Wis. Stat. § 943.201(2) (2001–02). It responded by amending

the statute to confirm what Wisconsin courts had already suggested: the general phrase reaches as broadly as it reads. Rather than removing the controversial general language from the statute, the Legislature added terms to clarify the statute's breadth. It also created Wis. Stat. § 943.203, using nearly identical general language. That is significant: given the issue in *Peters*, the Legislature could have taken steps to show that it intended to limit the general language to items similar to credit, money, goods, or services. Its failure to do so speaks volumes. In light of this statutory history, the *ejusdem generis* canon does not apply. *See La Barge*, 74 Wis. 2d at 332–33.

Second, Stewart that if Wis. Stat. argues § 943.203(2)(a) is not narrowly construed, it will lead to absurd results. (Stewart's Br. 12–13.) Stewart provides a list of vague examples that he believes would be chargeable if the statute's general language is given general effect: "someone who lies about a job or military service to pursue a romantic relationship or someone who embellishes her work or prior education experience on a resume or says he just got released from Racine Correctional Institution so that people will buy him drinks in a bar." (Stewart's Br. 12-13.) Of course, without knowing the manner in which these hypothetical people lied or embellished, one cannot say whether such conduct would fall within the elements of the statute. What is clear, however, is that the absurdity doctrine does not apply simply because certain consequences may seem inequitable or odd—"the absurdity must consist of a disposition that no reasonable person could intend." Scalia & Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts at 237; see also City of Kenosha v. Phillips, 142 Wis. 2d 549, 560, 419 N.W.2d 236 (1988) (court does not apply the absurdity doctrine to avoid what the court believes is an unwise or inequitable result). Moreover, the "absurdity must be reparable by changing or supplying a particular word or

phrase whose inclusion or omission was obviously a technical or ministerial error." Scalia & Garner, *Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts* at 238. "The doctrine does not include substantive errors arising from a drafter's failure to appreciate the effect of certain provisions." *Id.* Stewart does not address these conditions, making his absurdity argument undeveloped. This Court does not consider undeveloped arguments. *State v. Pettit*, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992).

Third, Stewart argues that Wis. Stat. § 943.203(2)(a) should be narrowly construed because Stewart could have been prosecuted for his conduct under other statutes. (Stewart's Br. 13–14.) Specifically, Stewart argues that he could have been charged with contempt of court under Wis. Stat. § 785.01, or for providing a false statement concerning military service under Wis. Stat. § 946.78, both of which constitute misdemeanor offenses. (Stewart's Br. 13–14.) The State is not aware of any statutory canon that says that the plain language of a statute may be disregarded because a lesser crime exists to cover the conduct in question, and Stewart cites to none. Rightfully so: a court's role is to give effect to the words that the Legislature used, not to usurp the role of the Legislature by deciding how certain criminal conduct should be punished.

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